Earth Negotiations Bulletin
"AReporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/forestryl/itto/ittc34/

Vol. 24 No. 21

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (1ISD)

Monday, 19 May 2003

SUMMARY OF THE THIRTY-FOURTH
SESSION OF THE INTERNATIONAL
TROPICAL TIMBER COUNCIL:
12-17 MAY 2003

Thethirty-fourth session of the International Tropical Timber
Council (ITTC-34) took placefrom 12-17 May 2003, in Panama
City, Panama. Approximately 220 participants attended the
session, representing 43 member countries, two potential
members, nineintergovernmental organizations and specialized
agencies, and 23 non-governmental organizations (NGOs).

The Council adopted 11 decisions on: projects, pre-projects
and activities; the management of the administrative budget; the
AsiaForest Partnership; criteriaand indicators (C&1) for sustain-
ableforest management (SFM); mattersrelated to Article 16 of the
1994 International Tropical Timber Agreement (ITTA, 1994)
related to the Executive Director of the International Tropical
Timber Organization (ITTO) and staff; negotiationsfor asuccessor
agreement to the ITTA, 1994; cooperation between ITTO and the
Convention on International Tradein Endangered Species
(CITES) on broad-leaf mahogany; the management of project
implementation; the biennial work programme and administrative
budget; phased approachesto certification; and the expansion and
diversification of international tradein tropical timber. At the
session, del egatesapproved nineprojectsand el ght pre-projects.

The Committees on Economic Information and Market Intelli-
gence (CEM), Reforestation and Forest M anagement (CRF), and
Forest Industry (CFI) convened their thirty-second sessionsto
review completed projects and pre-projects, consider ex-post eval -
uations, select projects and pre-projectsfor approval by the
Council, and address policy work. The Committee on Finance and
Administration (CFA) held itsthirteenth session to review finan-
cial and administrative matters, including contributionsto the
Administrative Budgetsfor 1986-2003, the current status of the
Administrative Account and amendmentsto the Financia Rules.
Delegatesaso held the ITTO Annual Market Discussion on World
Trade and Business Developments.

Upon leaving the Miramar I ntercontinental Hotel on Saturday
to discover thetropical forests of Panama during the weekend, the
prevailing mood was one of serene satisfaction. In many respects,
ITTC-34 demonstrated afine balance between policy setting and
taking concrete stepsto implement the ITTO's objectives. The
positive impressions of the meeting did not, however, hide
concerns about the ITTO'sfinancia future at thiscritical juncture.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THEITTA

TheInternational Tropical Timber Agreement (ITTA) was
negotiated under the auspi ces of the United Nations Conference on
Trade and Development (UNCTAD). The negotiations aimed at:
providing an effective framework for cooperation and consultation
between countries producing and consuming tropical timber;
promoting the expansion and diversification of international trade
intropical timber and theimprovement of structural conditionsin
thetropical timber market; promoting and supporting research and
development to improve forest management and wood utilization;
and encouraging the devel opment of national policiesfor the
sustainabl e utilization and conservation of tropical forestsand their
genetic resources, and maintaining the ecological balancein the
regions concerned.

Thel TTA was adopted on 18 November 1983, and entered into
forceon 1 April 1985. It remainedin forcefor aninitial period of
fiveyearsand was extended twice for two-year periods. The
Agreement was renegotiated in 1993-1994. The successor agree-
ment tothe I TTA (ITTA, 1994) was adopted on 26 January 1994,
and entered into forceon 1 January 1997. The ITTA, 1994 contains
broader provisionsfor information sharing, including non-tropical
timber trade data, allowsfor consideration of non-tropical timber
issues asthey relate to tropical timber, and includesthe Year 2000
Objectiveto enhance members’ capacitiesto implement astrategy
for achieving exports of tropical timber and timber productsfrom

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of the I TTA. ... ... ..o i 1
ITTC-3AREPOrt. . ..o 2
CouncCil SESSIONS. . ..t vt 2
Joint CommitteeSession. .. ...........coiinn... 6
Committee on Reforestation and Forest
Management. ...... ... ... i 7

Committee on Economic Information and Market

Intelligence and Committeeon Forest Industry . . . ... 8
Committtee on Finance and Administration. . . ... ... 9
ClosingPlenary. . ..., 10
A Brief Analysisof ITTC-34........................ 11
ThingstoLook ForToday . ... ...t 12

Thisissueof the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by Andrew Bal dwin <andrew@iisd.org>, Nienke Beintema<nienke@iisd.org>, Fiona
Koza<fiona@iisd.org>, Charlotte Salpin <charlotte@iisd.org> and Hugh Wilkins <hugh@iisd.org>. The Digital Editor is Franz Dejon <franz@iisd.org>. The Editor is
PamelaS. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of 11SD Reporting ServicesisLangston James"Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of
theBulletin arethe Government of the United Statesof America(through the Department of State Bureau of Oceansand I nternational Environmental and Scientific Affairs),
The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA, DFAIT and Environment Canada), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests
and L andscape (SAEFL ), the United Kingdom (through the Department for I nternational Development - DFID and Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs-
DEFRA), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of
Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2003 is provided by the United
Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of
Foreign Affairsand Trade of New Zealand, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Norway, Swan I nternational, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for
Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute -
GISPRI), and the Ministry for Environment of |celand. Specific funding for coverage of this meeting has been provided by the I TTO Secretariat (with acontribution from
the US Department of State). The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD or other
donors. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin,
including requeststo providereporting services, contact the Director of 11SD Reporting Servicesat kimo@iisd.org, +1-212-644-0217 or 212 East 47th St. #21F, New York,
NY 10017, USA.



http://www.iisd.ca/forestry/itto/ittc34/
mailto:enb@iisd.org
mailto:andrew@iisd.org
mailto:nienke@iisd.org
mailto:fiona@iisd.org
mailto:charlotte@iisd.org
mailto:hugh@iisd.org
mailto:franz@iisd.org
mailto:pam@iisd.org
mailto:kimo@iisd.org
mailto:kimo@iisd.org

Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 2

sustainably managed sources by theyear 2000. The ITTA, 1994
also established the Bali Partnership Fund to assist producing
membersin achieving the Year 2000 Objective. Initially concluded
for threeyears, the 1994 Agreement was extended for an additional
three-year period, which will end on 31 December 2003.

Thel TTA established the ITTO, headquartered in Yokohama,
Japan, which provides aframework for tropical timber producer
and consumer countriesto discuss, exchange information and
develop policieson issuesrelating to international tradein, and
utilization of, tropical timber and the sustai nable management of its
resource base. The ITTO has 57 members divided into two
caucuses. producer countries (31 members) and consumer coun-
tries (25 members, including European Community member
States). The I TTO membership represents 95% of world tradein
tropical timber and covers 75% of the world’stropical forests.

The governing body of the ITTO isthe International Tropical
Timber Council (ITTC), which includes all members and meets
twice ayear. Four committees advise and assist the Council on
issuesfor consideration and decision: the CEM, CRF, and CFI deal
with the ITTO'smajor areas of work; and the CFA considersfinan-
cial and administrative matters concerning the ITTO's manage-
ment. The CEM, CFM and CFl are supported by the Expert Panel
for Technical Appraisal of Project Proposals, which meetstwicea
year. Since 1998, the Council has also been advised by an Informal
Advisory Group (IAG).

ITTC-31: The31st session of the I TTC met in Yokohama,
Japan, from 29 October-3 November 2001. The Council adopted
decisionson: forest law enforcement; developing adraft workplan
on mangrove forest ecosystems; establishing a database of statis-
ticson thetrade of bamboo and rattan; and assisting the devel op-
ment of auditing systemsfor theimplementation of C&1 for SFM.
At ITTC-31, members pledged US$8.96 million to fund work for
the promotion of tropical forest conservation and sustainable
development, and the Council approved and financed several
projects.

ITTC-32: Thel TTC held its 32nd session in Bali, Indonesia,
from 13-18 May 2002. The Council provided fundsto facilitate
input from, and participation of, acivil society advisory group
(CSAG) at ITTC-33. The Council also adopted decisionson: the
ITTO's contribution to the World Summit on Sustainable Devel op-
ment; arevised Mangrove Workplan; guidelinesfor the restoration
and management of degraded and secondary tropical forests; forest
law enforcement in Africa; SFM in the Congo Basin; certification;
and preparations for negotiating a successor agreement to the
ITTA, 1994. Member States pledged US$8.129 million to fund
selected projects and pre-projects, and the Council approved 19
projectsand 10 pre-projects.

ITTC-33: The 33rd session of the I TTC met from 4-9
November 2002, in Yokohama, Japan. The Council adopted the
ITTO s2003 work programme, and decisions on: public relations,
education and outreach; partnershipsfor SFM; prevention and
management of forest fires; measuresto reduce costs and improve
the efficiency and effectiveness of the organization; extension of
the I TTA, 1994; and preparationsfor negotiating a successor agree-
ment tothe I TTA, 1994. The Council approved 12 projectsand 15
pre-projects. No pledgeswere made to fund sel ected projects and
pre-projects. At the session, the CSAG held apanel discussion on
the certified forest products marketplace.

ITTC-34 REPORT
I TTC-34 opened on Monday morning, 12 May 2003. ITTC
Chair Bin Che Yeom Freezailah (Malaysia) wel comed participants
and expressed gratitude to Panamafor hosting the meeting.
Drawing attention to the upcoming negotiations of a successor

agreement to the ITTA, 1994, he noted the need for enhanced coop-
eration and internationa assistance, and stressed that environ-
mental, social and economic dimensions must remain at the core of
the negotiations. He called for balancing consumer and producer
countries’ obligations, noted therole of the CSAG and Trade Advi-
sory Group (TAG) in enriching the process, and highlighted sensi-
tive sovereignty issues.

Noting that effectiveimplementation of the I TTA, 1994 is diffi-
cult, ITTO Executive Director Manoel Sobral Filho presented the
findings of regional workshops aimed at assisting developing
producer countriesto build sustainable trade and compete with
temperate forest producers. He called for enhanced collaboration
between the private sector and NGOsto develop C& I for SFM.
Sobral stressed the role of partnerships and recent meetingsto
increase market accessfor tropical timber.

The Plenary also heard opening statementsfrom Emile
Doumba, Minister of Forest Economy, Water and Fisheries of
Gabon, Satyadeow Sawh, Minister of Fisheries, Crops, Livestock
and Forestry of Guyana, Jorge Viana, Governor of the State of
Acre, Brazil, Ricardo Anguizola, National Environment Authority
of Panamaand Arturo Vallarino, First Vice-President of Panama.

Later in the week, the Council heard statements from the Food
and Agriculture Organization (FAO), and from the United Nations
Forum on Forests (UNFF).

Delegates then adopted the meeting’sagenda (I TTC(XXXIV)/
1) without amendment. ITTO Executive Director Sobral
announced that quorum was reached for this session and that no
changesin membership had been registered since ITTC-33. Dele-
gates adopted the proposed distribution of votesfor 2003 and
admitted all States and organizations seeking observer status. The
following Bureau memberswerein office during the session: Chair
Bin Che Yeom Freezailah (Malaysia), Vice-Chair Jan McAlpine
(US), CEM/CFI Chair Fidel Reyes L ee (Guatemala), CEM/CFI
Vice-Chair Astrid Bergquist (Sweden), CRF Chair Henri-Félix
Maitre (France), CRF Vice-Chair A.S.K. Boachie-Dapaah
(Ghana), CFA Chair Pravit Chittachumnonk (Thailand), CFA Vice-
Chair Christopher Ellis (US), Producer Spokesperson Charles
Sikapiek (Cameroon), and Consumer Spokesperson Aulikki Kaup-
pila(Finland).

Throughout the week, del egates convened in Council, Joint
Committee and Committee sessions. The CEM and CFI convened
jointly during the session. A Chair’s Open-Ended Drafting Group
also convened to consider draft decisions.

Thefollowing report summarizes Council and Committee
discussions and decisions, organized by agendaitem. Editor’s
Note: The Earth Negotiations Bulletin does not report the names of
countriesininformal negotiating sessionsor drafting groupswhen
requested to do so.

COUNCIL SESSIONS

The Council convened daily to address:. therole of phased
approachesto certification for SFM; civil society and private sector
partnershipsfor SFM; mattersrelated to Article 16 of the ITTA,
1994, regarding the I TTO Executive Director and staff; measures
toimprove project formulation and appraisal; preparationsfor
negotiating asuccessor agreement to the ITTA, 1994; forest law
enforcement in the context of sustainable timber production;
CITESIisting proposal's; progressin achieving the Year 2000
Objective; issues affecting market access for tropical timber;
progressinimplementing I TTO's 2003 work programme; review
of, and contributionsto, the Specia Account and the Bali Partner-
ship Fund; the 2002 annual draft report; and the Fellowship
Programme.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 3 .

Monday, 19 May 2003

REPORTS: Twelfth meeting of the | AG: On Monday, ITTC
Chair Freezail ah presented the report of the IAG (ITTC (XXXIV)/
2) tothe Council. The |AG had held its 12th meeting on Sunday, 11
May 2003. The | AG proposed that | TTC-34 consider and adopt
decisionsonissues, including: project implementation manage-
ment; preparationsfor negotiating a successor agreement to the
ITTA, 1994, training for C& | and reporting; cooperation with other
organi zations; the administrative account; C&l; CITESIisting of
broad-leaf mahogany; and coverage of ITTC sessions and negoti-
ating conferences by the Earth Negotiations Bulletin.

Canada objected that not all of the draft decisions set out in the
report for consideration by I TTC-34 had been circulated prior to
Council session, asrequired by Decision 7(XXXII1). Noting that
the ITTA isinatransition period, Chair Freezailah and Switzerland
caledfor flexibility.

| ssues affecting market accessfor tropical timber: On
Thursday, the Secretariat outlined the report on issues affecting
market access of tropical timber (ITTC(XXXI1V)/10). He high-
lighted recommendationsfor ITTO and theinternational commu-
nity regarding:

 improving datacompilation and anaysis;

« monitoring tariff and non-tariff barriers, including through
studieson product standardsand quality grading rules;

* researching tradeimpactson SFM, and viceversa;

» addressingillegal harvesting and trade, through, inter alia,
participating in the Forest Law Enforcement and Governance
process, and devel oping international principlesand mecha-
nisms;

« certification, including encouraging the devel opment of
national C& | in producer member countries; and

« filling gapsin market access knowledge, including through
further research ontropical timber substitutes.

Hesaid producing countriesshould, inter alia, review and align
domestic barriers and impedimentsto export trade, and implement
C&I for SFM. He noted that recommendations for consuming
countriesincluded: harmonizing the use of terms such as“legality”
and “sustainability” of origin, and coordinating specification
reguirements; collecting information on market barriersand
impedimentsto tropical timber inimporting countries; and coordi-
nating | egislation and implementation of the public procurement of
tropical timber.

Ghana supported extending coverage of species-specific data
on production and trade, monitoring tariff and non-tariff barriers
and, with Malaysia, improving linkages with the World Trade
Organization (WTQO). Canadaopposed equating low rent capturein
tropical forest concessionswith subsidies, and requested that refer-
encesto the pending US/Canada WTO dispute on the counter-
vailing duty to compensate forestry subsidies be deleted. Malaysia
called for: removing subsidies; encouraging the devel opment of
training programmes;, and discussing SFM beyond the ITTO
process. The US encouraged ITTO to follow up oninformation
received concerning the WTO process and to clearly identify
responsibilities. The European Community (EC) underscored the
clear separation of jurisdiction between ITTO and the WTO, and
theneed for ITTO to adapt to trade rules.

On Friday, the drafting group considered adraft decision on
measures to promote the expansion and diversification of interna-
tional tradein tropical timber (ITTC(XXXIV)/7). A consumer
country recommended theinclusion of “technical regulations” asa
topic for review in the proposed study on measures. Another
consumer country urged the addition of a preambular paragraph
noting the connection between product standards and market
access. A producer country supported acomprehensive study, and
another insisted on retaining specific reference to the impact of

regulations on tradein panel products. Producer countries
requested, and consumer countries opposed, inclusion in the study
of areview of tariffsand of regional trade agreements. One
consumer country noted that theinclusion of regional trade agree-
ments and tariffswould considerably increase the study’sambit
and cost.

On Saturday, the final session of the Council adopted the deci-
sion, asforwarded by the drafting group.

Final Decision: In Decision 12(XXXI1V), the I TTC authorizes
the Executive Director to engage two consultants, from producer
and consumer countries, to undertake a study to be presented at
ITTC-36, whichwill:

« identify product standards, quality or grading requirements,
building codes, and technical regulationsthat may affect the
trade of tropical timber and timber products, and assesstheir
possibleimpactsontradein tropical timber, inter alia, with
respect to panel products;

* assessthe capacity of tropical timber producing countriesto
meet existing and evolving product standards and technical
regulationsfor timber productsinimporting countriesand,
where gapsexist, identify and propose waysto addressthem
and provide assistance to producer countries,

 proposerecommendationsfor consideration by Membersand
the Council; and

* inthecontext of the WTO DohaDevel opment Agenda, report
to ITTC-36 ontariffs, negotiations and the negotiating process
asrelated to tropical timber products.

Obj ective 2000: On Thursday, the Council addressed reporting
on assistance provided to producer countriesto identify factors
limiting progresstoward achieving Objective 2000, and progressin
implementing national training workshopsontheuseof ITTO
formatsfor reporting on SFM.

Diagnostic missions: Patrick Hardcastle, ITTO Consultant,
summarized the outcomes of the diagnostic missionin Guyana
(ITTC(XXXIV)/8). Hereviewed Guyana shasic forestry statistics,
highlighting limited timber production and challenges dueto low
soil fertility, high speciesdiversity, difficult access, and thefragile
ecology. He emphasi zed problemsrel ating to: inefficient resource
use; poor market understanding; destructive competitive behavior;
limited investment in training; and inadegquate management. He
stressed the need for greater efficiency, specialization, training, low
capital-based approaches, agreater emphasi s on employment,
improved communication and information, and government
financing incentives. Hardcastle said the ITTO should: support
operator and managerial training initiatives; provide technical
expertise on industry restructuring; give guidance on product
design and specification; and support alocal market information
service.

Guyana agreed with the findings and recommendations of the
mission and said more work is needed in Guyanaon: lesser-used
species; reducing inefficiencies; improving accessto markets; and
managing mangrove forests. Ghanaenquired about Guyana's
methodsto control chainsaw logging. The Tropical Forest Founda-
tion described anew partnership for training in Guyana.

Jeffrey Sayer, Centrefor International Cooperationin Agricul-
tural Research for Development, presented the findings of the diag-
nostic missionin Trinidad and Tobago (ITTC(XXXIV)/9). He
described Trinidad and Tobago’s forestry industry, past successes
in forestry management, and new socioeconomic trends. Sayer
outlined the mission’srecommendationsfor: greater capacity
building; better information generation and management;
increased involvement of civil society; and greater private sector
engagement. He encouraged the submission of an I TTC project
proposal on capacity building and information management.



Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 4

Trinidad and Tobago endorsed the mission’s recommendations,
noted the value of submitting aproject proposal, and recommended
the Caribbean region as avenuefor future workshops and meet-
ings. France commented on the difficultiesin commercializing
teak. Guatemalaraised questionsregarding I TTO’'s commitments
after diagnostic missions are completed, and the procedures
involved when establishing the missions.

National training workshops: Jurgen Blaser (Switzerland)
reported on progressin theimplementation of national training
workshops on the use of ITTO formatsfor reporting on SFM,
conducted under ITTO Decision 9(XXX). Heexplained that the
objectives of theworkshopsinclude: testing and using C& | astools
for sustai nable management at the forest management-unit level;
informing and training managers,; exchanging experiences; and
reviewing the pertinence of C& | at the forest management-unit
level. He said that workshops have been held in Congo, PapuaNew
Guinea, Céted’ Ivoire, Vanuatu, the Philippines, Cameroon and
Colombia, and noted that Brazil, Peru, Ecuador, Bolivia, Panama,
Myanmar and Togo have expressed interest in holding future work-
shops. He highlighted that the workshops have increased field
actors awarenessof thel TTO and have drawn attention to the need
for harmonizing terminology. Blaser al so noted that an Expert
Panel meeting will convenein late 2003 to, inter alia: revise C&l;
simplify the questionnairefor reporting; and link ITTO C&,
auditing, certification and harmonization with other C&1
processes.

Guatemal a suggested that future workshops take into account
the recommendations and conclusions of the International Confer-
enceon C&I for SFM held in Guatemala City, Guatemala, in
February 2003. Highlighting its commitment to capacity-building
activities, Switzerland called for more national training workshops
and encouraged countriesto submit their national reports. ITTO
Executive Director Sobral noted that reports have been received
from Colombia, Congo, Indonesia, Myanmar, Peru, Philippines,
Thailand, Togo and Vanuatu, and urged other membersto submit
their reports, using the approved reporting formats, as soon as
possible.

On Friday, the drafting group considered adraft decision on
C&| for SFM (5(XXXI1V)). The consumer group suggested, and
delegates agreed, to add a paragraph requesting the ITTO Secre-
tariat to prepare adocument collating the outcomes from work-
shops, including comments from member countries, aswell as
relevant recommendations from the international expert meeting
on C&I, whichiscalled for under the decision. On Saturday, the
final session of the Council adopted the decision without amend-
ment.

Final Decision: In Decision 4(XXXIV), the Council:

* requeststhe Executive Director to arrange national level
workshopsin eight producer countriesto train officials, forest
managers, forest concessionairesand othersinvolvedin SFM,
intheeffectiveuseof ITTO Reporting Formatsat national and
forest management unit levels;

* strongly encouragesall producer countriesto submit their first
national-level report by 31 August 2003, usingthe TTO C& |
Reporting Format, to allow the Status of Tropical Management
report to be compiled by early 2004;

« authorizesthe Executive Director to render assistanceto
producer countriesto completetheir first national-level
reports, through workshops and/or financing expertise; and

* requeststhe Executive Director to convene an expert panel to
review the outputs of the national training workshops, the
international expert meeting and other relevant fora, and make
recommendationsto I TTC-36 for therevisionof ITTO'sC&|
and Reporting Formats.

The decision further authorizesthe Executive Director to
convenejointly with the FAO aninternational expert meeting on
C&| to consider: devel oping acommunication network among
processes, countries and other relevant partners; improving a
common understanding of concepts, terms and definitions; identi-
fying common approachesto, and methodsfor, collecting, storing
and sharing data; strengthening processes and i nter-process coop-
eration; and the merits of forming an ad hoc international technical
advisory group to addresstechnical issuesrelated to C&I.

Progressin implementing the | TTO Work Programmefor
2003: On Saturday, the Secretariat presented the progress report on
theimplementation of the I TTO work programmefor theyear 2003
(ITTC(XXXIV)/16), noting asignificant increase in the Secre-
tariat’sworkload. Aulikki Kauppila, Consumer Group Spokes-
person, suggested that activities be added regarding collaboration
of ITTO with other organizations and processes such asthe United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
and the UNFF. Sheurged ITTO participation in the Conference of
Partiesto UNFCCC, and preparatory work for and participationin
the UNFF sintersessional working group on decentralization of the
UNFF. The US announced a contribution of US$101,060 to the
Congo Basin Partnership Fund (CBPF), and noted its continued
support to address research needsin the Congo Basin. Thereport
was adopted by Council .

2002 Annual Report: On Saturday, the Secretariat presented
thel TTOsannual report for 2002 (ITTC(XXXIV)/4) and reviewed
thereport’s structure, focusing on its summary of projectsand pre-
projectsin 2002, policy work, the world timber situation and work
of the Committees. The Council approved the report.

PHASED APPROACHESTO CERTIFICATION: On
Monday, Markku Simula, ITTO Consultant, presented the results
of regional workshops on the potential role of phased approachesto
certificationin tropical timber producer countriesasatool to
promote SFM. He stressed the need for phased approachesto
address practical constraintsto implementing certification, and
noted the widespread interest in phased approachesto certification
among all stakeholders. He suggested that the Council: endorsethe
use of phased approaches; carry out acost-benefit analysis of certi-
fication; raise awareness among governments on the merits of
phased approaches; and provide support for regional initiatives,
particularly in Africaand the Asia-Pacific region. Simulaalso
recommended, inter alia, that governments, where appropriate, use
incentivesto promote the implementation of phased approaches
and that the private sector recognize the potential of phased
approaches and participate in devel oping voluntary standards.

Brazil stressed that thelegal requirements of phased approaches
should be based on domestic | egislation. Japan said certification
can play arolein combating illegal logging and that mutual recog-
nition of certification schemesisimportant. Switzerland stressed
the need for action to increase producer accessto certification.

On Friday, the drafting group considered adraft decision
(11(XXXIV)). One consumer country expressed concern about
preambular wording, which hefelt inferred Council support for
certification. Producer countries recommended theinclusion of
deadlinesfor consultantsto present their work on procedures for
phased approaches and on eval uation of the costs and benefits.
They a so called for adeadline for the Executive Director to report
on aworkshop on phased approaches. Producer countries recom-
mended del eting a paragraph that encouraged the promotion of
projectsrelated to phased approaches.

On Saturday, the final session of the Council adopted the deci-
sion, asforwarded from the drafting group.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 5 -

Monday, 19 May 2003

Final Decision: Under Decision 10(XXX1V), the ITTC notes
the outcomes and recommendations of the regional workshopson
phased approachesto certification held in Jakarta, Libreville and
Panama City inthefirst half of 2003, and recognizesthe need for
further devel opment and promotion of phased approachesto certi-
fication asatool to promote SFM in ITTO producer member coun-
tries.

The decision also authorizesthe Executive Director to:

 engagetwo consultants, onefrom aproducer and onefroma
consumer country, to devel op proceduresto implement phased
approachesto certification;

* engagetwo consultants, onefrom aproducer and onefroma
consumer country, to undertake astudy to evaluatethe costs
and benefitsof certificationin selected producing member
countries; and

« conveneaninternational workshop on phased approachesto
certification, and report to the Council no later than ITTC-38.
The decision includes an annex containing terms of reference

(ToR) for the development of procedures and for the study on
financial cost-benefitsanalysis.

PARTNERSHIPSFOR SUSTAINABLE FOREST
MANAGEMENT: On Tuesday, Barney Chan, TAG Spokes-
person, presented the report of the Working Group on Civil
Society/Private Sector Partnershipsfor SFM (ITTC(XXXIV)/5)
and recommended, inter alia, the establishment of arevolving fund
to support at least 10 partnerships annually. Brazil, supported by
Ghana, Guatemalaand Panama, stressed the need to adopt one
format aligning projectswith national and ITTO policies. Switzer-
land, supported by the Philippines, recommended further work on
stakeholders' responsihilities. Ghanacalled for synchronizing
proj ect submissions and funding reviewswith ITTO project cycles.
Chan recommended that the Secretariat have full authority to allo-
cate fundsto partnerships. No decision wastaken on thisitem.

MEASURESTO IMPROVE PROJECT FORMULATION
AND APPRAISAL : OnWednesday, Patrick Hardcastle, Chair of
the Expert Panel for Technical Appraisal of Project Proposals,
presented the Expert Panel’s Report on Measuresto Improvel TTO
Project Formulation and Appraisal (ITTC(XXXIV)/6). Noting the
generally low quality of project proposal's, he suggested revising
the proposal format, and called for, inter alia, agreater rolefor
country focal points and consultants. He recommended a smaller
expert panel, web-based information, and that proposalsare
revised only once.

TheUScalled for further operational and financial analyses.
Australiamentioned broader consultation and astronger evaluative
rolefor the Secretariat. Switzerland and the EC said projectsshould
be of international value. Japan stressed the need for proper
management of project implementation. Colombia suggested
strengthening theinitial stages of proposal development. New
Zedand called for revising the proposal manual and better training.
Ghana, with Indonesia, stressed the need for cost-efficient national
capacity building. The Philippines called for improved coordina-
tion between the ITTO and experts. The Netherlands said projects
should reflect the ITTO's core competencies.

The matter was further discussed in the drafting group on
Friday. A consumer country suggested broadening the scope of the
review and including atimetable and priority actionsfor intro-
ducing changes. After consultationsin asmall group, delegates
reached consensus on expanding the scopeto include cost effi-
ciency when implementing the recommendations. On Saturday, the
Council adopted the decision without amendment.

Final Decision: In Decision 11(XXXIV), the I TTC requests
the Executive Director to, inter alia: assessthefinancial and human
resourcesimplications of the recommendations proposed by the

Expert Panel; and prepare and send out aquestionnaire to members
on perceived difficultiesin project formulation and suggestionsfor
improving project appraisal.

PREPARATIONSFOR NEGOTIATING A SUCCESSOR
AGREEMENT TO THE ITTA, 1994: On Wednesday, Jirgen
Blaser, Chair of the Working Group on Preparationsfor Negoti-
ating a Successor Agreement tothe I TTA, 1994, presented the
Working Group’s Report (ITTC(XXXIV)/7). He summarized the
results of amembership survey that was appended to the decision
that created the Working Group (Decision 8(XX XI111)), concluding
that: not all countriesresponded to the survey; thereisadesireto
retain the agreement; ITTA, 1994 isan adequate basis from which
to begin negotiations; thereis consensuson I TTO's positioninthe
international context; and thereis considerable variation regarding
the scope of the new agreement. Blaser then presented a* road
map” for the negotiations, suggesting that PrepCom I: set the
context of the negotiations; define the elementsto be considered,
particularly scope; and identify intersessional work. He suggested
that PrepCom |1 address organizational issues, funding, and
remaining administrative issues.

Brazil highlighted theimportance of the ITTO, expressed the
need to explore new financing arrangements, and suggested the
Global Environment Facility (GEF) asapossible funding source.
The Republic of Koreasaid the negotiations should addressthe
ITTA, 1994 sobjectives. ITTC Chair Freezailah proposed, and
Switzerland supported, atentative schedul e for future Council and
PrepCom sessions.

On Friday, the drafting group considered adraft decision on a
successor agreement tothe ITTA, 1994 (4(XXX1V)). Delegates
proposed amendmentsto a paragraph requesting the Executive
Director to engage consultantsto prepare abackground paper to
summarize experiences, possibilitiesand constraints of environ-
mental service paymentsfor the purpose of informing the Council
and the PrepCom. A producer country proposed that the back-
ground paper summarize experiences regarding implementation of
thecurrent ITTA. A group of consumer countries suggested that the
paper take stock of all studies availableregarding internationally-
traded and potentially tradable environmental services. A
consumer country expressed skepticism about the useful ness of
holding an intersessional meeting between the first two PrepComs.
After convening asmall group, delegates agreed on arevised draft,
which incorporated: areferenceto internationally-traded and
potentially tradable environmental services; clarification that, in
case of shortfal, funds from the Working Capital Account may
only be used to finance negotiations; anew annex including ToR
for the environmental servicesstudy; and arequest to the Executive
Director to engage consultantsto prepare a background paper
summarizing experiencesinimplementing ITTA, 1994. Regarding
the TOR, delegates agreed to: add reference to “ environmental”
goods and servicesflowing from forests; del ete referenceto the
scale of internalization of services; and insert areferenceto global
biodiversity benefits, including thosein relation to tropical timber
producing forests.

On Saturday, the Council adopted the decision without amend-
ment.

Final Decision: Under Decision 6(XXXIV), the TTC regquests
the PrepCom to take measuresto implement intersessional work as
needed, including extending the mandate of the Working Group, if
necessary. The ITTC requeststhe Executive Director to: engage
consultantsto prepare asummary of the experiences of implemen-
tation of the current ITTA, 1994 and a paper taking stock of the
most rel evant studiesavailableregarding internationally traded and
potentially tradable environmental services; and advisethe Secre-
tary-General of UNCTAD to arrange for the United Nations



Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 6

Conferencefor thefirst session of the negotiations of a successor
agreement to the ITTA, 1994, in Geneva, Switzerland, from 26-30
July 2004.

The decision also specifiesthat ITTC-36 will convenein Swit-
zerland from 20-23 July 2004, and ITTC-37 in Yokohama, Japan,
from 13-18 December 2004.

SUSTAINABLE FOREST MANAGEMENT INTHE
CONGO BASIN: On Friday, Jeffrey Sayer, Centrefor Interna-
tional Cooperationin Agricultural Research for Development,
presented the report of the Workshop to Develop aRegional
Applied Research Programme Focusing on Social, Economic, and
Environmental Aspectsof Tropical Forest Management
(ITTC(XXXI1V)/11). He stated that researchersin the Congo Basin
are constrained by difficult working conditions, that researchis
often driven by external interestsrather than by local needs, and
that the amount of published research on issuesin the Congo Basin
isrelatively low. Sayer summarized the results of asurvey of
concessionaires, which states that newer concessions are often
vertically integrated and their timber exportsare generally to Asia,
whereas older concessions arelessintegrated and their exportsare
to Europe. He expressed the need for continued researchinthisarea
and for improved forest research capacity in the Congo Basin.

Gabon noted that alack of resources and unfavorable working
conditions are the causes of insufficient research, and Cameroon
said there are many capabl e, albeit under-funded, researchersinthe
region. France noted that it will continueitsinvolvementin
research activitiesin theregion, and urged othersto providelong-
term research funding. The US said the Congo Basin Forest Part-
nership (CBFP) establishesaplatform to deal with theseissuesat
theregional and national levelsand that ITTO hasbeenintegral in
enabling the partnership.

The Secretariat presented the report of the Training Workshop
for Trainersin Forest Management (ITTC(XXXIV)/12),
explaining that the workshop’smain objectiveswereto: review and
analyze current challengesin SFM and forest concession manage-
ment (FCM); enhance understanding of SFM and FCM principles
and concepts; identify concession managers responsibilitiesto
integrate social and environmental aspects of SFM; and define
actionsto improve SFM training standardsin forestry training
institutes.

Noting the weaknesses of current SFM training efforts, Came-
roon stressed the need for improved curriculaat forestry schools
and improved linkages with ministries and universities. Gabon
underscored theimportance of training forest managers.

No decision wastaken on thisitem.

FOREST LAW ENFORCEMENT INTHE CONTEXT OF
SUSTAINABLE TIMBER PRODUCTION AND TRADE: On
Wednesday, the Secretariat presented apreliminary report on the
case study on Export and Import Dataon Tropical Timber Products
inthe Context of International Trade (ITTC(XXXIV)/14). Hedrew
attention to case study work in the UK, Chinaand Indonesia, and
noted Myanmar’sinterest in participating. He said the Council may
wish to provide additional funding to hire aconsultant to prepare a
final report, asavailable fundswill be exhausted.

Carlos Chirinos Arrieta, Peruvian Environmental Law Society,
presented a case study on the Devel opment and Implementation of
Guiddinesfor the Control of Illegal Logging with aView to SFM
in Peru (ITTC(XXXI1V)/15). He highlighted the need for alterna-
tivesto the concession system for small-scale producers, and said
in Peru the poor loggers are punished for illegal logging, while
those who promote and fund such activitiesare not. He called for
stronger management practi ces and management opportunitiesfor
small-scaleforesters. ITTO Executive Director Sobral explained
that similar case studieswere underway in Malaysiaand Brazil.

Japan and Ghanastressed the need to define “illegal activities.”
Switzerland said I TTO should design programmesto enforce laws
and combat illegal trade, using declarations of species, origin and
production methods, and supporting traditional land use. Ghana
said regulations alone were unsuccessful in Ghana, and called for
institutional capacity building. Malaysiahighlighted itsbanson log
importsfrom Indonesiaand on squarelogs, and expressed regret
that illegal logs still enter Malaysiaunder false declarations of
origin. Indonesiacalled for enhancing cooperation, including
through information sharing, and suggested extending the CRF
mandateto includeillegal logging. The EC said it did not wish to
restrict trade. The US cautioned against using measures such as
trade restrictions, and suggested addressing illegal |ogging through
SFM. No decision wastaken on thisitem.

CITESLISTING PROPOSALS: OnThursday, ITTC Chair
Freezailah took note of the absence of new proposals from member
countriesto list specieson CITES appendices.

COOPERATION BETWEEN ITTO AND CITESON
MAHOGANY: A decision on cooperation between ITTO and
CITES on broad-leaf mahogany was discussed by the drafting
group on Friday. The producer group stressed the importance of
scientific information when reviewing the listing of broad-leaf
mahogany in CITES Appendix |1, and called for arequest to the
ITTO Executive Director to offer to the CITES Secretariat “ajoint
process of scientific and technical research.” Many delegates
cautioned against broadening the decision beyond the ITTO's
mandate and objectives, with one country stressing that CITES
itself has considerable technical expertise and financial resources.
After consultations, del egates agreed to emphasi ze collaboration
with the CITES Secretariat through technical, scientific and finan-
cial cooperation.

Thefinal session of the Council adopted the decision as
forwarded from the drafting group.

Final Decision: In Decision 7(XXXI1V), the I TTC requeststhe
Executive Director to: offer collaboration to the CI TES Secretariat
in order to providetechnical, scientific and financial support to the
Mahogany Working Group; and contact I TTO member countries
that are mahogany range Statesto identify their needsfor effective
implementation of CITES Appendix |1, and to assist those coun-
triesto develop and submit projectsthat address those needs.

MATTERSRELATED TOARTICLE 16 OF THEITTA,
1994: On Tuesday, ITTC Chair Freezailah proposed that Council
re-appoint I TTO Executive Director Sobral for another three-year
term terminating in 2006.

On Friday, the drafting group discussed the decision on matters
related to Article 16 of the ITTA, 1994. Delegates agreed to
“renew,” instead of “extend,” ITTO Executive Director Sobral’s
mandate to November 2007, instead of November 2006. The
Council unanimously approved the proposal and Executive
Director Sobral accepted. On Saturday, the Council adopted the
decision without amendments.

Final Decision: In Decision 5(XXX1V), thel TTC renewsthe
mandate of ITTO Executive Director Manoel Sobral Filho from 6
November 2003 to 5 November 2007 asthe second term of his
appointment.

JOINT COMMITTEE SESSION

A Joint Committee session between the CRF, CEM and CH,
chaired by Henri-Félix Maitre (France), convened on Monday and
Tuesday.

REPORT OF THE EXPERT PANEL FOR TECHNICAL
APPRAISAL OF PROJECT PROPOSAL S: On Monday,
Patrick Hardcastle, Chair of the Expert Panel for Technical
Appraisal of Project Proposals, presented the Expert Panel’s report



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 7 -

Monday, 19 May 2003

(CEM, CRF, CFI (XXXI1)/1), highlighting, inter alia, poor
problem analysisand translation into logical frameworksfor
action, missing background information, and the large number of
project and pre-project proposals.

ANNUAL MARKET DISCUSSION: On Tuesday, del egates
held the Annual Market Discussion on world trade and business
developments. The discussion was opened by Barney Chan, TAG
Coordinator.

Country Presentations. Guillermo Villarreal, Empresa
Selloro, outlined timber market conditionsin Panama. He recom-
mended that Panama generate income and employment through
natural resource utilization, and focus on exportsto increasethe
value of timber production and on lessening environmental
impacts.

Ivan Tomaselli (Brazil) presented market dataon the Brazilian
timber industry, and expressed concern that asthe “ Conformité
Européenne”’ marking becomes mandatory inthe EU, Brazilian
plywood exportswill lose accessto that market.

Alhassan Attah (Ghana) described trendsin Ghana stimber
industry, highlighting policy reformsincluding measuresto combat
illegal logging, and fiscal incentivesto promote domestic
processing. He said challengesinclude slow growth of value-added
industries, certification, and conflicts between mining and forestry.
He called for enhanced cooperation between the private sector,
government and local communities.

Siti SyalizaMustapha, Maaysian Timber Council, outlined the
establishment of the Malaysian Timber Certification Council and
stressed the need for coordination with other certification organi-
zations. She said timber market i ssuesinclude unjustified associa-
tion of tropical timber trade and illegal 1ogging, the undermining of
national certification efforts by advocates of other schemes, and
non-tariff barriers.

Wendy Baer, International Wood Products Association,
presented tropical timber market conditionsin the USand
described the challenges and opportunitiesin tropical timber trade,
raising concernsregarding thetrade impact of listing broad-|eaf
mahogany on CITES Appendix II.

Guest Presentations. Doaa Abdel-Motaal, WTO, provided an
overview of the WTO DohaRound of negotiations. Noting that the
WTO and the ITTO have common goals, she highlighted WTO
rulesand negotiationsrelevant to the ITTO.

James Griffiths, World Business Council for Sustainable
Development (WBCSD), presented opportunities and challenges
for asustainable forest productsindustry, and WBCSD’srel evant
activitiesaimed at the mutual recognition of credible certification
systems. He said the benefits of a sustainable forest products
industry include the creation of employment and infrastructure,
whereas challengeslay in, inter alia, the fragmentation of global
forest policiesand the lack of marketsfor ecosystem services.

Auvo Kaivola, Pan-European Forest Certification, presented
international perspectiveson certification. He underscored the
importance of transparency and peer reviews, stressed the need to
ensure compatibility and mutual recognition between national
schemes, and said challengesinclude raising awareness, inte-
grating intergovernmental schemes, ensuring cost-effectiveness
and combating illegal logging.

Discussion: Delegates discussed, inter alia, non-wood substi-
tution of timber products and meansto counter this phenomenon,
the establishment of minimum certification standards, and therela-
tionships between ITTO and WTO.

COMMITTEE ON REFORESTATION AND FOREST
MANAGEMENT

The CRF, chaired by Henri-Félix Maitre (France), met on
Monday, adopted its agenda and organization of work
(CRF(XXXI1)/1), and admitted observers. The Committee held
sessions on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday to consider,
inter alia, completed and proposed projects and pre-projects, ex-
post evaluations, policy work and procedural and other business.

COMPLETED PROJECTSAND PRE-PROJECTS: On
Monday, delegates heard presentations and reviewed areport on
compl eted projects and pre-projects on reforestation and forest
management (CRF(XXXI1)/3). Ricardo Umali, Sustainable
Ecosystems International, described work in the Philippines on the
conservation and maintenance of biological diversity in tropical
forests managed primarily for timber production. Pablo Mateus
Alarcon, CORMADERA, presented the results of atimber devel-
opment project in Ecuador, stressing the need to continue devel-
oping know-how. Marcelo Arglellesde Souza, Acre State
Government, Brazil, presented information on forestry in Acre,
highlighting policy instruments based on the integration of forest
public policy, community-based forest management, support to
industry and local social services.

On Tuesday, KhanitaMeedgj (Thailand) reviewed studiesfor
theinstallation of acontinuous monitoring system for the sustain-
able management of forest resourcesin Thailand. NeyraHerrera
(Panama) described effortsto strengthen Panama’s geographic
information system for monitoring and eval uating forest resources.
Delegates a so reviewed the status of completed pre-projects
concerning theimprovement of living standards through commu-
nity participation in SFM in Cambodia, and the development of an
integrated forestry master plan in Togo.

EX-POST EVALUATIONS: On Tuesday, del egates post-
poned the review of ex-post evaluations of projectsuntil the 33rd
session of the CRF.

PROJECT AND PRE-PROJECT PROPOSALS: On
Tuesday, delegates requested therevision of severa project
proposel sand approved proposals addressing:

the conservation and reforestation of Panama’sthreatened

mangroveforests;

* thedevelopment of human resourcesin SFM and reduced-
impact logging inthe Brazilian Amazon;

« technical assistancefor the devel opment of aproject proposal
oninstitutional strengthening for forest fire prevention,
mitigation and management in Panama;

* geneticimprovement of tropical forest speciesin Guatemala;

« collaborativeforest management in the Philippines; and

« therehabilitation and multi purpose sustai nable management of
mangroveforest ecosystemsin Ecuador.

POLICY WORK: On Wednesday, the CRF heard presenta-
tions on various policy work issues. On promoting understanding
and use of the ITTO Guidelinesfor the Restoration, Management
and Rehabilitation of Degraded and Secondary Tropical Forests,
the Secretariat described six ongoing regional workshops.

Regarding monitoring progressin the application of C&I for
SFM, and cooperation with rel evant organizations, the Secretariat
outlined the results of aseries of national training workshopson
C& | and reporting formats and presented the outcomes of the Inter-
national Conference on C&I for SFM, held in Guatemala City,
Guatemala, in February 2003.

Regarding monitoring the political implicationsfor the
resource base of climate change and related policy developments,
Carmenza Robledo-Abad, Swiss Federal Laboratoriesfor Material
Testing and Research (EM PA)/Inter-cooperation, described how
initiatives under the UNFCCC process rel ate to forest issues and



Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 8

explained how the Kyoto Protocol’s Clean Development Mecha
nism (CDM) relatesto ITTO project work. A financing model for
SFM that utilizesthetools under the CDM was presented by Maria
Patricia Tobdn Hincapié, CORNARE. Focusing on aCDM project
in Colombia, shereviewed baseline setting, verification, moni-
toring and community engagement activities, and described means
to attract buyers of CDM credits. Untung | skandar, Association of
Forest Concession Holders, described an initiativein Indonesiato
promote SFM usingaCDM project. Switzerland said the ITTO
should increaseitsinvolvement with the UNFCCC and build
capacity in developing countriesto enhance environmental
services.

The Secretariat reported on the Regional Workshop to Facilitate
the Transfer of Environmentally Sound Technologiesfor
Mangroves, held in Managua, Nicaragua, in March 2003.

On monitoring and assessing the environmental, social and
economic costs and benefits of forest plantation devel opment and
utilizing that information to promote new plantations, the Secre-
tariat presented aproposal to examine private-sector involvement
inindustrial forest plantations and eval uate factorsinhibiting plan-
tation investment. Norway said biodiversity isaconcern for planta-
tion forests and the US noted that both technical and institutional
factors need to be considered. Switzerland said the ecological
impacts of plantations should be addressed and Brazil stressed the
need to consider both incentives and technology investment.

DATESAND VENUESOF UPCOMING SESSIONSOF
THE COMMITTEES: Delegatesagreed that the 33rd session of
the CRF will be held in Yokohama, Japan, from 3-8 November
2003, in conjunction with I TTC-35; the 34th session of the CRF
will be held in Switzerland from 20-23 July 2004, in conjunction
with ITTC-36; and the CRF s 35th session will be held in Yoko-
hamafrom 13-18 December 2004, in conjunction with ITTC-37.

OTHER BUSINESS: Delegates noted an Indonesian project
that iscoming under “sunset” dueto lack of financing, and encour-
aged project ideasin Céted’ Ivoireand Bolivia.

RECOMMENDATIONSTO THE ITTC: The CRF recom-
mended to Council the approval of projectsin Ecuador, Panama,
the Philippines and Brazil and recommended the approval of three
pre-projects.

ADOPTION OF THE REPORT: The CRF adopted its report
(CRF(XXX11)/7) without amendment, on Friday.

COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC INFORMATION AND
MARKET INTELLIGENCE AND COMMITTEE ON FOREST
INDUSTRY

The CEM/CFI, chaired by Fidel ReyesL ee (Guatemala), met
on Monday and adopted the agenda (CEM, CFI (XX XI11)/1) and
admitted observers. The two committees continued to meet on
Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday to, inter alia, consider
completed projects and pre-projects, ex-post eval uations, and
project and pre-project proposals.

COMPLETED PROJECTSAND PRE-PROJECTS: On
Monday, delegates heard reports on two completed pre-projects
and one compl eted project (CEM, CFI (XXX11)/2).

Under CEM projects, the Secretariat outlined completed pre-
projects on the economic val uation of production forests and agro-
forestry systemsin the Peruvian Amazon and on assessing the
feasibility of, and support for, atropical timber promotion
campaign.

Under CFl projects, Brazil outlined acompleted project on
information and technical assistance for production and trade of
tropical timber in Brazil. The Secretariat took note of the projects
and pre-projects and declared them compl ete.

EX-POST EVALUATIONS: When discussing the sel ection of
projects for ex-post eval uation on Monday, del egates agreed to
postpone consideration of the completed Brazilian project on infor-
mation and technical assistance until the CEM/CFI’ s 33rd session.

Peter Kanowski, Australian National University, presented the
ex-post evaluation of aproject on the utilization, collection and
trade of tropical non-wood forest productsin the Philippines
(CEM, CFI (XXXI1)/4). He said the project focused on providing
local forest communitieswith information and technologiesto
promotetheir income and livelihood. He noted the project’s
successes, but called for enhanced devel opment of partnershipsand
communication strategies, and better understanding of the ecol og-
ical context, sustainability and market access. The Secretariat said
similar projectswere ongoing in Southeast Asiaand Latin
America. The USA stressed the need to make information more
readily available, preferably on the Internet.

The Secretariat noted the completion of ex-post evaluationson
technology transfer and the commercialization of selected coco-
wood utilization technol ogiesin the Philippines, and on the utiliza-
tion, collection and trade of tropical non-wood forest products, also
inthe Philippines.

The Secretariat also introduced areport onlessonslearned from
ex-post eval uation missions carried out by the CFl (CEM, CFI
(XXXI1)/5), and noted that the projects on devel opment of training
on assessment of SFM in Indonesiaand on the devel opment and
installation of acomputer management system for the control of
forest production in Gabon are eligiblefor ex-post evaluation.

PROJECT AND PRE-PROJECT PROPOSALS: On
Tuesday, CEM/CFI Chair Reyes Leeintroduced project and pre-
project proposals (CEM, CFl (XX X11)/6). Under the CEM, the
Secretariat presented China's proposal for an economic database
on bamboo and rattan. Del egates recommended that Council
approvethe proposal for ITTO sponsorship for funding from other
financial institutions. The Committee approved proposalson
timber and timber productstrade in the Philippines, upgrading and
strengthening the National Forest Statistical Information Systemin
Venezuela, and development of the National Forest Information
Systemin Guatemala.

Regarding CFl proposal s, del egates recommended reducing the
cost of aproject on the promotion of tropical non-wood forest prod-
uctsin China. Delegates approved proposals on: updating training
inforest management and forest concession management in
Central African forestry schools; building capacity for furniture
and lumber industriesin the Philippines; studying the utilization of
plantation teak in Myanmar; promoting the utilization of rubber-
wood from sustainable sourcesin Indonesia; and promoting certi-
fied timber and timber productstradein Guatemala, with the US
recommending that attention be paid to identifying marketsfor
lesser-known species. The Secretariat presented a project docu-
ment on the demonstration of rubberwood processing technology
and promotion of sustainable devel opment in Chinaand other
Asian countries. Cote d’ I voire presented project ideas on theindus-
trial development of offcutsand on training in log and sawn wood
recognition techniquesin the timber trade.

On Wednesday, delegates adopted revised proposalsfor
projects on timber and timber productstrade in the Philippines, and
the promation of tropical non-wood forest productsin China.

POLICY WORK: On Tuesday, the Secretariat introduced an
informal document on work directed at technical and environ-
mental standards and international standard activities. On
Wednesday, Lamon Rutten, UNCTAD, presented measures to
bring increased transparency to the tropical hardwood plywood
trade, and an analysis of the causes of market fluctuationsand price
instabilities. He noted that the tropical plywood industry islosing



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 9 -

Monday, 19 May 2003

market shareto alternative plywood types. |dentifying major prob-
lemsin thisindustry, including alack of clear pricing mechanisms
and reliableinformation about market trends, he said market trans-
parency can beimproved with better cooperation at the corporate,
national and international levels.

Richard Murphy, Imperial College, presented areview of
current work on life cycle assessments (LCA) for tropical timber
products, explaining that LCA isasystem analysistool to describe
the“ cradle-to-grave’ environmental impacts of products and
processes. He highlighted that the eco-profile of tropical timber
comparesfavorably with synthetic materials, but that drawbacks
include long transportation distances and energy-intensive
harvesting. He outlined future prioritiesfor tropical timber LCAS,
including: the development of local expertisein LCA methodsin
tropical countries; the devel opment of strong life-cycleinventory
databases; and publication and dissemination of L CA results.

The Secretariat outlined, and del egates approved, policy work
on: market access; timber certification; LCA of timber products;
proposed listing of timber specieson CITES appendices; tradein
secondary processed wood products; matters on trade and SFM
considered by the UNFF; and activitiesto fill gapsin data.

Regarding issuesfor discussion at the next session, CEM/CFI
Vice-Chair Bergquist (Sweden) suggested, and del egates agreed,
that the Committees continue considering ongoing issues,
including certification, tradein secondary processed wood prod-
uctsand L CA of timber products.

DATESAND VENUESOF NEXT COMMITTEE
SESSIONS: OnWednesday, del egates agreed to defer the decision
on the dates and venues of the next committee sessionsto the
Council.

OTHER BUSINESS: On Friday, the US noted alack of avail-
ableinformation on potential forest-related trade activities. They
suggested, and the Secretariat agreed, that the Secretariat provide
therelevant information on the ITTO website.

ADOPTION OF THE REPORT: On Friday, the Secretariat
introduced thejoint CEM/CFI draft report (CEM,CFI (XX X11)/10).
Regarding the CFI’srecommendation to Council on work directed
at technical and environmental standards and international stan-
dardsactivitiesinthefield of forest industry, the US noted alarge
overlap between these activities and several proposed projects, and
suggested that a decision on the corresponding draft proposal be
deferred until the ToR of these activitiesarefully defined. Dele-
gates agreed to delete the relevant paragraph, and approved the
report.

COMMITTEE ON FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

Thethirteenth session of the CFA, chaired by Pravit Chitta-
chumnonk (Thailand), convened on Tuesday, Wednesday and
Friday. On Tuesday, del egates adopted the Committee’ sagenda
and organization of work (CFA (X111)/1), admitted observers, and
adopted the Report of the Expert Panel for Technical Appraisal of
Project Proposals (CEM,CRF,CFI (XX X11)/1).

REVIEW OF CONTRIBUTIONSTO THE ADMINIS
TRATIVE BUDGET S(1986-2003): The Secretariat presented
thereview of contributionsto the administrative budget for 1986-
2003 (CFA(XI11)/3andrev.1). The USinquired about the arrears of
the Russian Federation, aformer ITTO member. The Secretariat
said the Russian Federation must settleitsarrearsfirst, should it
decidetoregjointhe ITTO. He said another option wasfor Council
towrite-off the Russian Federation’sarrears. Switzerland, the US
and the EC called for further discussion about methodsto secure
the ITTO'sfinancial future. Del egates agreed to keep the dialogue
on thisissue ongoing.

CURRENT STATUSOF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
ACCOUNT FOR 2003: Onthecurrent status of the administrative
account for 2003 (CFA(X111/4) and rev.1), the Secretariat high-
lighted an expected US$150,459 deficit for 2003. He suggested
that the CFA recommend that Council authorize the ITTO Execu-
tive Director to use funds from the Capital Account for 2003.
Noting that such authorization had become routine, the US,
supported by Switzerland, Australia, the EC, and Japan, proposed
that Council allow the Executive Director to use the Capital
Account when necessary.

On Wednesday, the Secretariat presented, and delegates
approved with minor amendments, adraft decision which included
the proposed authorization to the Executive Director.

On Friday, the drafting group considered, and approved with
minor edits, adraft decision on thismatter. On Saturday, the
Council adopted the decision without amendment.

Final Decision: Under Decision 2(XXXIV), the I TTC notes
with concern theinsufficient receipts of contributionsfrom
membersto the Administrative Budget dueto untimely payment of
assessed contributions, and recognizesthat the receipts of contribu-
tionsfrom membersto the Administrative Budget before the end of
each financial year oftenfall short of the estimated total expendi-
tures. The decision also authorizesthe Executive Director to:
transfer, if and when necessary, an amount not exceeding
US$300,000 annually from the Working Capital Account to the
current account in the Administrative Account to meet the shortfall
of fundsto implement the I TTO work programme; and to usethe
interest earned in the Administrative Account to hire on atempo-
rary and intermittent basis, consultants and contractors to support
the Secretariat in carrying out itsduties.

The Council also requeststhat members pay their contributions
tothe Administrative Budget, aswell asarrearsin contributions;
and that the Executive Director review the status of the Working
Capital Account and report to Council should itsbalancefall below
US$2,500,000 at any time. The Council further urgesthe Secre-
tariat to look for cost saving measures on acontinuing basisand to
exercise economies possiblein incurring expendituresin the
Administrative Budget.

RESOURCESOF THE SPECIAL ACCOUNT AND BALI
PARTNERSHIP FUND: The Secretariat presented, and del egates
approved, the report on Resources of the Special Account and the
Bali Partnership Fund (CFA(XII1)/5).

On Friday, the drafting group considered, and approved with
minor edits, adraft decision on the management of project imple-
mentation. On Saturday, the final session of the Council adopted
the decision without amendment.

Final Decision: In Decision 8(XXXIV), the I TTC, inter alia,
notes the recommendation of the CFA'sthirteenth session to accel-
erate the effectiveimplementation of projectsand pre-projects, and
recognizesthe substantial project fundsin the Special Account and
the Bali Partnership Fund that remain to be spent for approved
project expenditures due to delaysin implementation.

The decision requests the Executive Director to compileinfor-
mation on the current status of the TTO’s projectsand pre-projects
and identify causes of delay in their implementation and challenges
in effective monitoring of the project work. The decision also
requeststhe Executive Director to convene an Expert Panel by the
end of October 2003, comprising three consumer member repre-
sentativesthat are main contributorsto the Special Account and
Bali Partnership Fund Account, and three producer member repre-
sentatives, onefrom each geographic region. The Expert Panel isto
determine the remedial actions necessary to addressdelaysin
project implementation and effective monitoring of project work,
and prepare areport for consideration by ITTC-35.



Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 10

AUDITOR’SREPORT FOR 2002: The Secretariat
presented, and del egates approved, the Auditor’s Report for 2002
(CFA(XI111)/2).

AMENDMENTSTO THE FINANCIAL RULES: On
Tuesday, the Secretariat presented proposed Amendmentsto the
Financial Rules Needed to |mplement a Biennial Work Programme
and Indicative Administrative Budget (CFA(XI111)/6). On
Wednesday, the Secretariat presented, and del egates approved, a
draft decision on abiennial work programme and administrative
budget, amending the Financial Rulesto allow the Executive
Director to prepare abiennial draft administrative budget.

On Friday, the drafting group considered and approved, with
minor edits, adraft decision on the biennial work programme. On
Saturday, Council adopted the decision without amendment.

Final Decision; In Decision 9(XXX1V), the ITTC requeststhe
Executive Director to prepare abiennial Work Programme and
Administrative Budget for the 2004-2005 biennium, for consider-
ationat ITTC-35. The TTC also amendsthe Financial Rulesand
Rulesrelating to Projects, deciding that the Executive Director
shall prepare adraft administrative budget for abiennial period,
which will be sent to all membersat |east 90 days beforethe
Council session at which the budget isto be approved. It saysthat
revisions or amendmentsto the administrative budget for the
second year in the biennial shall also be sent to all membersat least
90 days before the Council session at which the second year’s
budget isto be reviewed and approved.

DATESAND VENUESOF SUBSEQUENT SESSIONS:
The Secretariat announced that the next three CFA sessionswill be
heldjointly with ITTC sessions.

OTHER BUSINESS: Congo and the USraised concern over
thelack of funding for several approved projects and pre-projects,
with the US stressing the need to improve ITTO's efficiency and to
bring in additional contributions. Delegates agreed to keep discus-
sion on thisissue ongoing.

ADOPTION OF THE REPORT: On Friday, CFA Chair Chit-
tachumnonk introduced, and del egates approved with minor
amendments, the CFA’sreport (CFA(XI1/7).

CLOSING PLENARY

ITTC-34 Chair Freezailah opened ITTC-34'sfina sessionon
Saturday morning, 17 May.

REPORTS: Report of the Credentials Committee: Rall
Pinedo (Panama), Chair of the Credentials Committee, said all
credentials of member countries and the EC had been approved.

ITTO Fellowship Programme: The Secretariat presented the
progressreport onthe I TTO Fellowship Programme
(ITTC(XXXIV)/17), outlining the status of the Fellowship Awards,
and highlighting the need for additional funding to keep the Fund
operational. Jan McAlpine, Chair of the Fellowship Panel, intro-
duced the Panel’sreport (ITTC (XXX1V)/18), underlining the
importance of the programme and thanking its main donors. The
Council adopted the report and its recommendations.

Associated Sessionsand Committees: CRF Chair Maitre
presented, and del egates noted, the CRF sreport on itsthirty
second session (ITTC(XXXI1)/7).

CEM/CFI Chair ReyesL ee presented, and del egates noted, the
CEM/CFI joint report (CEM, CFI(XXXI11)/10). Noting that the
CEM and CFI had met jointly for thefirst time, ITTC Chair Freeza-
ilah congratulated Chair Reyes L ee and CEM/CFI participantsfor
their successful and efficient work.

CFA Chair Chittachumnonk presented the CFA report onits
thirteenth session (CFA(X111)/7). Indonesia expressed concern
regarding arecommendation to Council to write off the Russian
Federation’s contribution, subject to the full settlement should the

country decidetorejointhe TTO. He noted that thismay createa
precedent contrary tothe I TTA, 1994, and called on the Council to
reconsider the recommendation. ITTC Chair Freezailah said this
would beforwarded to the CFA at its next session, and delegates
noted the report.

SPECIAL ACCOUNT AND BALI PARTNERSHIP FUND:
Japan pledged US$2.3 million and encouraged other member coun-
triesto contribute. The US pledged US$75,000 for Sub-Account B
of the Bali Partnership Fund. The EC noted that it isamajor donor
of devel opment assistance and that it isworking to increaseits
collaboration with ITTO. ITTC Vice-Chair McAlpineurged
membersto contribute more funds, noting that several stateshave
expressed views on the future direction of the organization without
contributing support. Noting that rhetoric without action is unac-
ceptable, shesaidthe I TTO isat acritical moment and that
members must work together to recognize how to take responsi-
bility and advance the organization.

ITTO Executive Director Sobral summarized the current
resourcesin the Bali Partnership Fund, noting that the CFI has
reviewed the resources available and that about 50-60% of the
projects approved by Council are generaly initiated.

CFA Chair Chittachumnonk presented the report of the Panel
on Sub-Account B of the Bali Partnership Fund, stating that current
available resourcesin Sub-Account B at this session amount to
US$3,223,555 and that the Panel has counseled that thelimit for
financing at ITTC-34 from Sub-Account B should not exceed
USS$1 million. He said the Panel recommended priority actionsto
focus on the Expert Panel for Technical Appraisal of Project
Proposals, C& | for SFM, and measuresto promote the expansion
and diversification of international tradein tropical timber. He
noted that the Panel recommended total financing on these priority
actionsfrom Sub-Account B to be US$517,300.

DATESAND VENUESOF SUBSEQUENT SESSIONS:
The Secretariat announced that I TTC-36 will be held from 20-23
July 2004, in Switzerland, followed by thefirst session of the nego-
tiation for a Successor Agreement to be held from 26-30 July 2004,
in Geneva, Switzerland. ITTC-37 will take placein Yokohama,
Japan, from 13-18 December 2004.

OTHER BUSINESS: TAG Spokesperson Barney Chan,
Sarawak Timber Association, urged the Council to support mutual
recognition of schemesinitswork on phased approaches. Hecalled
for close cooperation between ITTO and CITES, encouraged
support for aCSAG/TAG partnership, and urged the ITTO to work
with international agenciesto forge a package of national and inter-
national measuresto addressillegal logging and trade.

CSAG Spokesperson Andrew Deutz, IUCN, said CSAG aims
to broaden the participation of under-represented social groups,
including local communities, labor and indigenous peoples. He
welcomed the Decision on Negotiating a Successor Agreement to
ITTA, 1994, which providesresourcesto ensure the partici pation of
CSAG and TAG members from devel oping countriesin the United
Nations Conference for the negotiation for a successor agreement
of thel TTA, 1994 in Switzerland in July 2004, and expressed hope
that the Council will also find mechanismsto support the participa-
tion of CSAG membersfrom producer countriesin the PrepComs
and future Council sessions. Deutz also said the CSAG looks
forward to collaboration with TAG.

Robianto K oestomo, Association of Indonesian Forest Conces-
sion Holders, thanked Switzerland and Japan for financing its pre-
project and expressed hopethat I TTO would fund the resulting
project.Maxim Lobovikov, International Network for Bamboo and
Rattan (INBAR), expressed interest in establishing astronger rela-
tionship between INBAR and ITTO, highlighting possible areas of
cooperation, including statistics, illegal 1ogging and certification.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 11 -

Monday, 19 May 2003

ADOPTION OF DECISIONS: ITTC Chair Freezailahinvited
delegatesto comment on the implementation of Decision
7(XXXI1I1) regarding the submission of proposed decisionsto
Council, and outlined the implications of thisdecision.

Aulikki Kauppila, Consumer Group Spokesperson, noted the
decision’s positive effects on the session’s efficiency and transpar-
ency, and stressed that it allows donor communitiesto beinformed
about thefinancial implications of proposed decisionswell before-
hand. She noted aneed for disciplineto comply with thedecision
and, with Indonesia, Malaysiaand Brazil, called for flexibility
during theinitial stages of itsimplementation. Switzerland and the
USalso expressed their support for the decision, with Switzerland
inviting member countriesto submit concerns and potential solu-
tionsto the Council at its next session. The EC acknowledged the
importance of flexibility, but stressed the need to respect theterms
and deadlinesimposed by the decision.

ITTC Chair Freezailah then introduced, and the Council
adopted without amendment, each of the decisions.

Projects, Pre-projectsand Activities. The decision on
projects, pre-projects and activities (L(XXX1V)) approvesnine
projectsand eight pre-projects. The decision also authorizes:

« financing for immediateimplementation of fiveprojects
approvedat ITTC-34;

« thereleaseof fundsfor the Freezailah Fellowship Fund;

« financing for theimmediateimplementation of five projectsas
soon asearmarked funds are availablein the Special Account;

« thereleaseof additional fundsfor four activitiesincluding:
public relations, education and outreach; theroleof ITTOin
international and regional organizationsand fora; staff
secondment to UNFF; and the promotion of SFM inthe Congo
Basin; and

« financing for activitiesincluding: strengtheningthe Asia
Forest Partnership; cooperation between ITTOand CITES;
management of project implementation; and phased
approachesto certification; C& | for SFM; negotiating a
successor agreement to the I TTA, 1994; measuresto promote
the expansion and diversification of international tradein
tropical timber; and the expert panel for technical appraisal of
project proposals.

The decision also urges membersto finance approved projects, and
to make unearmarked contributionsto the Special Account.

Srengtheningthe Asia Forest Partner ship: A decisionon
strengthening the AsiaForest Partnership was approved by the
drafting group on Friday, and adopted without amendment by
Council on Saturday.

Final Decision: Decision 3(XXXI1V) requeststhe Executive
Director, in cooperation with relevant member organizations of the
Collaborative Partnership on Forests, to support the governments
of Japan and Indonesiain convening aregional workshop to opera-
tionalize the goals of the AsiaForest Partnership.

CLOSING STATEMENTS: Consumer Group Spokesperson
Aulikki Kauppilalauded the cooperative spirit of the meeting and
expressed satisfaction with the direction that the ITTO istaking.
She noted the usefulness of the market access discussionsand side
event, and underlined the value of the decisionsthat were made at
thissession.

Producer Group Spokesperson Charles Sikapiek expressed
satisfaction with the quality of the work completed at the meeting
and commended the effort that was exerted throughout the week.
Stressing the importance of issuesrelating to capacity building,
financing, and removing constraints on trade, he said delegates
must now focus on the work ahead in shaping the future direction
of the ITTA to ensureits continued existence and relevance
regarding sustainable management and use of tropical forests.

Underscoring theimportance of collaboration between
consuming and producing countries, the EC advocated intensified
effortsto support long-term economic development in pursuit of
poverty reduction. He highlighted new EU legislation onimport of
tropical timber, which provides harmonized policy standards and
facilitatestrade. Noting the EC’s continued effort to enhance
capacity building in producer countries, he expressed optimism
regarding achieving Objective 2000.

Juan Carlos Navarro, Mayor of Panama City, thanked ITTO for
itsgood work and lauded Duncan Poore' s book, Changing Land-
scapes, for providing scientific insight into the changing nature of
forests. He congratulated the I TTO on itswork on mangroves, said
ITTO’ songoing projects contribute to sustainable forestry around
theworld, and highlighted Panama’s commitment to parks and
public-private partnerships.

Ricardo Anguizola, Administrator-Genera of the National
Environment Authority of Panama, congratul ated delegates on
their work and underscored Panama's commitment to SFM. He
highlighted that SFM can help to aleviate poverty and emphasized
the need for phased approachesto certification and cooperation
with CITES.

ITTC Chair Freezailah thanked the Government of Panamaand
itspeoplefor hosting I TTC-34. He congratul ated del egates on their
professionalism and spirit of compromise, expressing hopefor a
similar positive atmosphere at PrepCom |. He said the decision on
Negotiating a Successor Agreement tothe ITTA, 1994, providesan
excellent roadmap that will facilitate negotiations. Stating that
certification isimportant for achieving SFM, Chair Freezailah
noted that the decisions on market access and certification demon-
stratetheresilience and flexibility of ITTO'smembersand called
for strengthened collaboration between the TAG and CSAG. He
gaveled ITTC-34toacloseat 2:15 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF ITTC-34

I TTC-34 proceeded as smoothly as one could expect from a
multilateral process. Council sessions continued inthe amicable
tonethat has cometo characterizethe ITTO in recent years, while
itscommittee work was carried out with diligence and efficiency.
Thisoptic suggeststhat ITTO ismaturing asan ingtitution, and is
making solid headway asit movestowards achieving Objective
2000. After al, ITTO enjoysbroad international interest from a
range of actors—governments, foresters, and industry —which,
given ITTO'sturbulent history, stands astestimony to the hard
work of its membership. But to simply characterize ITTC-34 this
way, risks glossing over some of the more important dynamics
working through the organization — dynamicsthat explain, at |east
in part, why the ITTO has attracted attention in recent years.
Bearing in mind that ITTC-34 was not atimefor rocking the boat,
giventhat the I TTC isabout to begin to negotiate a successor agree-
menttothel TTA, 1994, thisanalysiswill briefly review the I TTC's
balancing act between policy and implementation, therole of
NGOsat I TTC-34, and future prospectsfor the ITTC.

ITTOSBIGSELL: AFINE BALANCE

When asked to identify ITTO'sforemost strength, most
observersand insidersare quick to point out that ITTO isuniquely
positioned at the interface between project implementation and
policy development. Thismeansthat many consider ITTOto bea
well-suited forum for responding to policy concernswith currency
on theinternational forest policy agenda, such asillegal logging,
given its capacity for policy dialogue and itstrack record in deliv-
ering effective project work. Looking at I TTC-34 through thislens
revealsapowerful relationship between policy and project work
operating through the ITTO, abalancing act that goes someway in



Monday, 19 May 2003

Vol. 24 No. 21 Page 12

explaining the political nature of the organization; but which also
helpsto explain why ITTO’s membership and followers consider it
to be soimportant. Not surprisingly, theissue of forest certification
and illegal logging clearly illustrates how thisbalancing act played
out during ITTC-34.

Theissue of phased approachesto forest certification (PA)
represents an interesting recent devel opment in theimplementation
of sustainable forest management (SFM). PA isthe practice of
implementing the requirements of SFM into aforestry operation on
astep-by-step basis. For tropical timber producers, PA isarealistic,
achievable method of attaining forest certification, andisviewed as
away of improving market accessibility for their products. On the
consumer side, thereisageneral willingnessto discuss PA asone
instrument in abasket of toolsthat helpsin theimplementation of
SFM; but, at the same time, some consumers are reluctant to give
PA their full nod of approval without knowing what its market
effectswill be. In more practical terms, consumers may be more
willing to finance projectsthat devel op producer capacity with a
view of achieving SFM, than they will beto directly finance
projectsthat involve specific certification schemes.

A tension between policy and project work at ITTC-34 was
clearly evident in discussions around the PA decision. The
proposed decision, which had been drafted by a producer country,
initially included astudy to evaluate the costs and benefits of certi-
fication, and devel op guidelinesthat would facilitate the imple-
mentation of certification. Some consumer countries, adamant that
the ITTO should not appear to endorse any one particular certifica-
tion scheme, felt that the proposed decision, particularly the refer-
enceto “guidelinesfor implementing” PA, might givethe
impression that the ITTO explicitly endorsesthe use of PA asa
strategy for implementing SFM. Inthe end, adecision was adopted,
but in aform more consi stent with the fact that PA remainsan unre-
solved policy issue, asopposed to auniversally accepted principle.
Taking astep back, it is precisely thistype of prolonged dialogue
that many feel isITTO’sstrength: it hasthe capacity to keep
industry and forest managers at the table by engaging in protracted
policy debates, yet isableto do sowith aview to implementing
effective project work. However, it is a so the reason why some
environmental NGOs have been reluctant to engage in the process:
policy development at the ITTC isaslow process.

Intermsof illegal logging, the balance between policy and
project work isnot nearly as precarious. There seemsto befairly
clear agreement that illegal logging isaproblem best dealt with on
the ground whereit occurs. Neverthel ess, there are somewho
contend that illegal logging could be addressed using import
restrictions and other demand-side tools; but those making this
argument are not the ones writing the cheques. Not to mention, any
reference to trade restrictions herewould risk moving ITTO policy
discussionsdangerously closeto the World Trade Organization;
inviting specific trade obligationsinto the ITTO is, quitesimply, a
non-issue. Instead, the “exchequers’ are advocating that more
statistical information should be collected in order to provide a
better perspective of the problem. Once the problem is adequately
identified, an antidote including stronger local governance and law
enforcement should follow. Withillegal logging so high onthe
forest policy radar, it would not be unreasonableto expect ITTO to
begin funding project work with thisin mind.

N(O)GOSAND THE ITTO

Another dynamic that played out during ITTC-34 had to do
with the participation of civil society. For itspart, ITTC-33was
heralded by many asamajor success, due, inlarge measure, to the
inaugural Civil Society Advisory Group (CSAG) panel. But at
ITTC-34, therewas anoticeablelack of CSAG participants. There

wereafew NGOsin attendance at ITTC-34, but it became clear as
theweek progressed that their involvement in the process appeared
to bedriven less by concerns about theroutinegoingsonat ITTO
than with project work partnerships.

Thereisalacunain thevoicesheard at the ITTC from interests
such astrade unions, indigenous peoples, devel opment, poverty,
and municipalities. Re-activation of the CSAG and accompanying
funding may be one solution; however, stronger engagement
throughout the process may al so be advantageous.

It must be pointed out that I TTC-34 decided to finance five
representatives of both the CSAG and the Trade Advisory Group
(TAG) to attend the United Nations Conference for the negotiation
of a Successor Agreement tothe ITTA, 1994 next summer in Swit-
zerland. Thisissignificant for afew reasons. First, it revealsthat
thel TTO, whatever itsintentions, is seriousabout keepingthe TAG
and the CSAG in close proximity to the action. But, moreimpor-
tantly, it signals I TTO’sunwillingnessto fund either group in the
PrepCom process where most of the serious negotiating will be
carried out. Thisleaves open the question asto whether ITTOis
trying to give the appearance of being inclusive, or whether itis
seeking genuine involvement from the TAG and CSAG.

ITTO AND THE GREAT BEYOND

If onething can be said about ITTO, itisthat theinstitution sits
poised at avery critical juncture. Thel TTO can continueto play its
important role as amechanism for discussing and implementing
projects or it can expand into new areas by increasing the ambit of
theissuesit addresses, the constituenciesit engages, and the poli-
ciesit develops. To attract the funding it needsto continueitswork,
the TTO must sell itself asaprocess on theleading edge. Inan
international context of economic recession, war, insecurity, and
disease and in which multilateralismitself isvying toretain its
legitimacy, competition among international processesfor funding
has becomeintense. With an increasing international focuson
poverty and development, if the ITTO isto maintainitsplaceasa
vibrant mechanism, it will need to re-assert itself in this changing
climate. Arguably, thisrationale also appliesto attracting greater
NGO involvement.

Over thelast decade, ITTO hasgonethrough agreat deal of
troubleto positionitself asauseful policy forum for thetrade and
forestry interests and mechanism for project implementation. How
thisplaysitself out, however, will becomeincreasingly clear once
the negotiation of the successor agreement gets underway and the
“scope” of the new agreement is decided.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR TODAY

PREPCOM | : Theopening session of PrepCom | for the
Negotiation of a Successor Agreement tothe ITTA, 1994, will
conveneat 10:00 am on Monday, 19 May, inthe Miramar Ballroom
of the Miramar Intercontinental Hotel in Panama City. Delegates
will consider, inter alia: the report of the Working Group on the
Negotiation of a Successor Agreement to the ITTA, 1994; new and
emerging issues of relevanceto the I TTO; and proposalsfrom
country members on the scope and substantiveissues.

OTHER MEETINGS: The Producer and Consumer caucuses
will meet from 11:30 am-6:00 pm, the Producer Caucusin the
Miramar Ballroom, and the Consumer Caucusin the MarinaGrand
Salon. From 6:30-7:30 pm, the PrepCom Chair and Co-Chair will
meet with the Producer and Consumer Spokespersons, Chair and
Vice-Chair of the Council, and ITTO Executive Director.



